

Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology Microtubule-Organizing Centers

Jingchao Wu and Anna Akhmanova

Cell Biology, Department of Biology, Faculty of Science, Utrecht University, 3584 Utrecht, The Netherlands; email: J.Wu3@uu.nl, a.akhmanova@uu.nl

Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 2017. 33:51-75

First published as a Review in Advance on June 23, 2017

The Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology is online at cellbio.annualreviews.org

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-cellbio-100616-060615

Copyright © 2017 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved



Keywords

microtubule nucleation, microtubule minus end, centrosome, Golgi, γ -tubulin, CAMSAP

Abstract

The organization of microtubule networks is crucial for controlling chromosome segregation during cell division, for positioning and transport of different organelles, and for cell polarity and morphogenesis. The geometry of microtubule arrays strongly depends on the localization and activity of the sites where microtubules are nucleated and where their minus ends are anchored. Such sites are often clustered into structures known as microtubule-organizing centers, which include the centrosomes in animals and spindle pole bodies in fungi. In addition, other microtubules, as well as membrane compartments such as the cell nucleus, the Golgi apparatus, and the cell cortex, can nucleate, stabilize, and tether microtubule minus ends. These activities depend on microtubule-nucleating factors, such as γ -tubulin-containing complexes and their activators and receptors, and microtubule minus end-stabilizing proteins with their binding partners. Here, we provide an overview of the current knowledge on how such factors work together to control microtubule organization in different systems.

Contents

INTRODUCTION	52
CENTROSOME: THE MAJOR MICROTUBULE-ORGANIZING	
CENTER IN DIVIDING ANIMAL CELLS	53
Centrosome Function	53
Evolution of Centrosomes and Centrosome-Like Structures	55
Pericentriolar Material and y-TuRC Recruitment to Centrosomes	55
Expansion of Pericentriolar Material in Mitosis	58
Microtubule Anchoring at Centrosomes	59
Centrosome Perturbations in Human Disease	60
THE GOLGI APPARATUS AS A MICROTUBULE-ORGANIZING CENTER	
IN MAMMALIAN CELLS	61
MICROTUBULE ORGANIZATION AT THE NUCLEAR ENVELOPE	64
MICROTUBULE ORGANIZATION BY CHROMATIN	
AND KINETOCHORES	64
MICROTUBULE GROWTH FROM PREEXISTING MICROTUBULES	65
MICROTUBULE ORGANIZATION AT THE CELL CORTEX	65
FUTURE DIRECTIONS: UNDERSTANDING TRANSITIONS BETWEEN	
DIFFERENT TYPES OF MICROTUBULE ORGANIZATION	67

INTRODUCTION

The organization of microtubule networks plays a crucial role in controlling different aspects of cell architecture and function. Microtubules are dynamic polymeric tubes, with the fast-growing plus end, where most of microtubule elongation occurs, and the slow-growing minus end, which is often stabilized and attached to different cellular structures. In dividing animal cells, a major site of microtubule nucleation and anchoring is the centrosome, which thus forms the microtubuleorganizing center (MTOC)-the central point of a radial microtubule array (Bornens 2012, Conduit et al. 2015b). However, in contrast to the textbook view, even in cells with a radial microtubule system, many microtubule minus ends are not attached to the centrosome but instead are anchored to membrane organelles, such as the Golgi apparatus, or lie free in the cytoplasm (Chabin-Brion et al. 2001, Efimov et al. 2007, Rodionov et al. 1999). Furthermore, in many types of differentiated animal cells, such as epithelial cells or neurons, microtubule networks are not radial but instead form parallel or antiparallel arrays (Sanchez & Feldman 2017). Linear microtubule arrays are also present in different types of fungi, particularly those with an elongated cell shape (Sanchez & Feldman 2017). Plant cells do not have centrosomes, and a significant part of microtubules in interphase plant cells form sheetlike, semiparallel arrays located underneath the plasma membrane (Hamada 2014). Overall, microtubule organization can vary depending on the cell type and cell cycle or differentiation stage, and the underlying mechanisms strongly rely on the localization and activity of the protein complexes that can nucleate microtubules and subsequently stabilize and anchor their minus ends. Cellular structures that have such a capacity are often termed MTOCs, although some of them, unlike the centrosome, do not cause microtubule minus end focusing into asters.

It is generally believed that the core component responsible for microtubule nucleation is γ -tubulin (for review, see Kollman et al. 2011). In budding yeast, γ -tubulin is part of the so-called

 γ -tubulin small complex (γ -TuSC), whereas in other organisms it is part of a larger complex, the γ -tubulin ring complex (γ -TuRC) (Figure 1*a*,*b*). Importantly, studies in vitro and in cells indicate that the microtubule-nucleating activity of γ -TuRC is strongly regulated by additional factors, many of which typically reside in MTOCs (Petry & Vale 2015). Some of these factors directly bind to γ -TuRC and can also recruit this complex to specific sites (Lin et al. 2014a). whereas others can interact with tubulin dimers or nascent microtubule plus ends, thus promoting microtubule growth from the existing template (Wieczorek et al. 2015). Furthermore, there are indications that γ -TuRC may not be strictly required for all microtubule nucleation events. For example, in fly cells, the depletion of γ -tubulin had no strong effect on the steady-state levels of interphase microtubules (Rogers et al. 2008). In worms, both centrosomal nucleation and formation of noncentrosomal microtubules could be maintained to some extent when γ -tubulin function was strongly diminished (Hannak et al. 2002, Wang et al. 2015). Microtubules easily nucleate spontaneously in solutions of purified tubulin if their concentration is sufficiently high, and many microtubule-associated proteins (MAPs) have been reported to promote this process. Among them, the combination of TPX2 (the targeting protein for Xklp2) and ch-TOG (the human homolog of the microtubule polymerase XMAP215) appears to be very potent, with TPX2 stabilizing early microtubule nucleation intermediates and ch-TOG promoting microtubule growth (Roostalu et al. 2015). However, it is currently unknown whether in cells these proteins can support microtubule nucleation independently of γ -TuRC templates.

By capping microtubule minus ends, γ -TuRC can also potentially stabilize and anchor them. These activities of γ -tubulin can be separated from its role in microtubule nucleation and depend on distinct factors (Anders & Sawin 2011, Muroyama et al. 2016). Furthermore, there are other proteins that can autonomously bind to microtubule minus ends. These include KANSL1/KANSL3 proteins, epigenetic regulators that associate with and stabilize microtubule minus ends in mitotic spindles (Meunier et al. 2015), and the members of the CAMSAP/Patronin family (Goodwin & Vale 2010, Meng et al. 2008; reviewed in Akhmanova & Hoogenraad 2015). CAMSAPs (in vertebrates) and Patronin (in invertebrates) do not nucleate microtubules but associate with their free, uncapped minus ends as they grow and in this way form stretches of stabilized microtubule lattices that can serve as seeds for microtubule regrowth (Hendershott & Vale 2014, Jiang et al. 2014) (Figure 1c). CAMSAP/Patronin-mediated and γ -tubulin-mediated minus end stabilization pathways are thus mutually exclusive. Through their binding partners, CAMSAPs and Patronin can organize microtubule minus ends at different cellular locations. Here, we discuss the mechanisms of microtubule nucleation and anchoring at different types of MTOCs and their functions. We primarily focus on animal cells but also discuss similarities and differences with other eukaryotic systems.

CENTROSOME: THE MAJOR MICROTUBULE-ORGANIZING CENTER IN DIVIDING ANIMAL CELLS

Centrosome Function

The centrosome is composed of two centrioles (the older one and the newer one, termed mother and daughter) and the surrounding pericentriolar material (PCM), which is responsible for microtubule nucleation, as well as for stabilization and attachment of microtubule minus ends. Centrioles have a symmetric cylindrical structure, the core of which is formed by nine microtubule triplets. In addition to playing a role in centrosome formation, centrioles serve as basal bodies of cilia and flagella. The mechanisms of centriole formation and duplication have been the subject of excellent reviews (Avidor-Reiss & Gopalakrishnan 2013, Azimzadeh & Marshall 2010) and are not



Figure 1

Microtubule minus end binding proteins. (a) γ -Tubulin small complex (γ -TuSC). In budding yeast, γ -tubulin is part of γ -TuSC, which consists of two copies of γ -tubulin and two γ -tubulin complex proteins (GCPs), GCP2 and GCP3, which in vitro can oligomerize into ringlike structures; oligomerization is stimulated by the γ -TuSC receptor Spc110, which during mitosis localizes to the nuclear side of the spindle pole body and nucleates spindle microtubules. (b) γ -Tubulin ring complex (γ -TuRC). In organisms other than budding yeast, including fission yeast and filamentous fungi, γ -tubulin is part of a larger complex, or γ -TuRC, which includes the additional components GCP4, GCP5, and GCP6. Other proteins tightly associated with γ -TuRC are NEDD1/GCP-WD, MOZART1/GCP9, and MOZART2A/B/GCP7/8. γ -TuRC serves as a cap that blocks minus end dynamics. (c) CAMSAP/ Patronin family proteins associate with free microtubule lattice, which can serve as seeds for microtubule elongation. Importantly, CAMSAP/Patronin family proteins do not bind to tubulin well and do not nucleate microtubules. Abbreviations: Ce, *Caenorhabditis elegans*; Dm, *Drosophila melanogaster*; Hm, *Homo sapiens*.

discussed here. Importantly, when the activity of the key factors required for centriole duplication, such as Plk4 (Polo-like kinase 4), or of structural centriolar components, such as the microtubulebinding protein Sas-4 [also known as CPAP (centrosomal P4.1-associated protein) or CENPJ in humans], is perturbed either pharmacologically or genetically, centrosomes are typically also lost (Basto et al. 2006, Sir et al. 2013, Wong et al. 2015). Analysis of phenotypes associated with such perturbations showed that centrosomes are not strictly required for cell survival. During cell division, centrosomes have a dominant role in organizing bipolar spindles in somatic animal cells. However, even physical ablation of centrosomes with all the associated components shortly before mitosis does not prevent subsequent spindle formation and cell division (Khodjakov et al. 2000). Centrosomes are required, however, for rapid, robust, error-free chromosome separation (for review, see Meraldi 2016). Centrosomes are also needed for formation of astral microtubules (Basto et al. 2006, Bazzi & Anderson 2014), which, in turn, are important for spindle positioning (see Wu et al. 2017 for a recent review). Still, development of flies and mice proceeds surprisingly far in the absence of centrioles (i.e., morphologically normal adult flies are formed, and mice can make it to embryonic day 9.5), and the main defects are caused by the lack of cilia (Basto et al. 2006, Bazzi & Anderson 2014). Furthermore, centrioles play no role in meiotic spindle assembly,

which instead depends on self-organization of multiple acentriolar MTOCs, and the same is true for the first cleavages in mouse embryos (see Courtois et al. 2012 and references therein).

During interphase, the radial, centrosome-based microtubule organization plays a crucial role in positioning of different membrane organelles. Central, pericentrosomal positioning of organelles such as the cell nucleus, the Golgi apparatus, or recycling endosomes requires the activity of the minus end-directed motor dynein. The relative positioning of the centrosome and the nucleus has a role in determining cell polarity (Bornens 2012). For example, in mesenchymal cells, the centrosome and the Golgi apparatus are positioned in front of the nucleus (Luxton & Gundersen 2011), and centrosome repositioning in epithelial cells correlates with epithelial-mesenchymal transition and cell scattering (Burute et al. 2017). In cytotoxic T lymphocytes, centrosome movement to the plasma membrane mediates delivery of secretory granules to the immunological synapse (Stinchcombe et al. 2006).

In addition to such microtubule-dependent cell architecture-related functions, centrosomes act as signaling hubs, display cross talk with DNA damage response pathways, and even organize actin filaments (Conduit et al. 2015b, Farina et al. 2016, Mullee & Morrison 2016). Centriole loss causes a p53-dependent arrest in G1 phase of the cell cycle (Bazzi & Anderson 2014, Wong et al. 2015). Some components of this pathway are known (Fong et al 2016, Lambrus et al. 2016, Meitinger et al. 2016), but it is still not entirely clear whether cell cycle arrest is just a consequence of prolonged mitosis or reflects a more direct connection between the centrosomes and p53-dependent cell cycle control.

Evolution of Centrosomes and Centrosome-Like Structures

The core centrosome components, centrioles, serve as basal bodies for the assembly of cilia and flagella, and as such were likely present in the last eukaryotic common ancestor because they are found in all eukaryotic supergroups (Hodges et al. 2010). However, centrally localized, centriole-containing MTOCs important for cell division appear to be of later origin (Azimzadeh 2014, Gräf et al. 2015). Among animals, the planarian *Schmidtea mediterranea*, which is capable of forming cilia, does not form centrosomes and lacks conserved animal centrosome proteins (Azimzadeh et al. 2012). This could be due to the fact that embryonic development in this worm does not rely on oriented cell divisions and thus does not require astral microtubules, the formation of which depends on centrosomes.

Centrosome-like structures are also present in lineages that lack centrioles, such as fungi and Amoebozoa. In yeast, the role of centrosomes is fulfilled by spindle pole bodies (SPBs), which are embedded into the nuclear envelope, with distinct γ -tubulin receptors present at the two sides to control assembly of cytoplasmic and spindle microtubules (the latter are located in the cell nucleus because yeast have closed mitosis) (for review, see Kilmartin 2014, Lin et al. 2014a). In *Dictyostelium*, a representative of Amoebozoa, the acentriolar MTOC, known as the nucleusassociated body, is a box-shaped three-layered structure surrounded by a PCM-like corona that can concentrate γ -tubulin (Euteneuer et al. 1998). The molecular components of yeast SPBs have been extensively studied (Kilmartin 2014), and some proteins composing the *Dictyostelium* centrosome have been identified (see Meyer et al. 2017 and references therein). Many other organisms, for example, diatoms or Apicomplexa such as *Toxoplasma*, also possess MTOCs (Azimzadeh 2014, Morlon-Guyot et al. 2017), but their molecular makeup is much less understood.

Pericentriolar Material and y-TuRC Recruitment to Centrosomes

Centrosomes are self-assembling structures, the proteome of which has been well characterized (Andersen et al. 2003, Muller et al. 2010). Super-resolution microscopy studies revealed how

a Interphase centrosome

C Mitotic centrosome



Figure 2

Centrosome organization in interphase and mitosis. (*a*) Organization of pericentriolar material (PCM) around the mother centriole in interphase. Pericentrin and CEP152 form interdigitating elongated fibers extending from the centriole wall; the C-terminal PACT domain of pericentrin is responsible for targeting the protein to the centriole wall. Other PCM proteins form orderly toroid structures around the centriole. (*b*) Major PCM components and their nomenclature in *Homo sapiens* (Hs), *Drosophila melanogaster* (Dm), and *Caenorhabditis elegans* (Ce). NEDD1, CDK5RAP2, and pericentrin can interact with γ -TuRC. CDK5RAP2 is also a potent γ -TuRC activator. The worm SPD-5 is a functional counterpart of CDK5RAP2 but is not a homolog. (*c*) During cell division, mitotic kinases, particularly PLK1, phosphorylate PCM components and promote their polymerization into an extended amorphous matrix.

centrosomes in fly and human cells assemble by attachment of PCM around the mother centriole (Lawo et al. 2012, Mennella et al. 2012) (**Figure 2***a*). One of the key players in PCM organization in mammalian cells is an elongated coiled-coil protein, pericentrin [also known as kendrin in mammals and pericentrin-like protein (Plp) in flies] (Delaval & Doxsey 2010). Centrosome recruitment of pericentrin depends on its C-terminal PACT (pericentrin-AKAP450 centrosomal targeting) domain, which interacts with calmodulin (Gillingham & Munro 2000), but the mechanism of centrosome targeting by PACT is not yet known. In interphase centrosomes, clusters of pericentrin form elongated fibrils that attach with their PACT-containing C terminus to the centriole in a pattern that may follow its ninefold symmetry (Mennella et al. 2012) (**Figure 2***a*,*b*). Pericentrin is

required for efficient recruitment and organization of several other centrosomal proteins, including CDK5 regulatory subunit–associated protein 2 [CDK5RAP2, also known as CEP215 in mammals and centrosomin (Cnn) in flies], CEP192 (Spd2 in flies and SPD-2 in worms), and its binding partner NEDD1 (Neural precursor cell expressed, developmentally downregulated 1; also known as GCP-WD in mammals and as Dgp71WD in flies). These proteins form toroids of different diameters around the centriole (reviewed in Conduit et al. 2015b, Mennella et al. 2014, Woodruff et al. 2014). Another conserved PCM component is CEP152 [Asterless (Asl) in flies], which does not depend on pericentrin and which in flies also forms elongated fibers that interdigitate with those of pericentrin (Mennella et al. 2012) (**Figure 1***a*). Asl/CEP152 does not seem to be essential for interphase PCM organization but controls formation of a scaffold that initiates formation of a new centriole and participates in mitotic PCM assembly (Dzhindzhev et al. 2010; reviewed in Conduit et al. 2015b).

Several PCM components can recruit γ -tubulin. These include pericentrin, the N-terminal part of which binds to γ -TuRC (Takahashi et al. 2002), and CDK5RAP2, which interacts with pericentrin through the conserved C-terminal centrosomin motif 2 (CM2) (Wang et al. 2010), whereas its N-terminal centrosomin motif 1 (CM1) represents a γ -TuRC-binding site (Choi et al. 2010, Sawin et al. 2004). NEDD1 is another factor that tightly associates with γ -TuRC. NEDD1 is essential for γ -TuRC recruitment to centrosomes in human cells (Haren et al. 2006, Luders et al. 2006), although not in flies (see Reschen et al. 2012 and references therein). Interestingly, there is a clear functional difference between the γ -TuRC-binding regions of CDK5RAP2 and NEDD1. The CM1 motif of CDK5RAP2 can not only recruit γ -TuRC but also activate γ -tubulin-mediated microtubule nucleation, even when it is positioned ectopically at the cell cortex; therefore, the γ -TuRC-binding site of CDK5RAP2 is also termed γ -TuRC-mediated nucleation activator (γ -TuNA) (Choi et al. 2010, Muroyama et al. 2016). In contrast, the γ -TuRC-binding region of NEDD1 can recruit γ -TuRC to ectopic sites but does not cause microtubule nucleation; however, NEDD1 is needed for anchoring of microtubules, including those nucleated by CDK5RAP2 (Muroyama et al. 2016).

Other important players in controlling γ -TuRC localization and activity are the small proteins MOZART1 (mitotic spindle–organizing protein associated with a ring of γ -tubulin, or GCP9) and MOZART2A/B (GCP7/8), which participate in γ -TuRC recruitment to the centrosome in mitosis and interphase, respectively (Hutchins et al. 2010, Teixido-Travesa et al. 2010). Recent work showed that MOZART1 binds to the CM1 region of CDK5RAP2, and the loss of MOZART1 affected the integrity of γ -TuRC as well as CDK5RAP2-induced microtubule nucleation (P. Liu et al. 2014). NME7, another factor that copurifies with γ -TuRC, has kinase activity, but its exact function is not yet understood (P. Liu et al. 2014) (**Figure 1***b*).

The regulators and receptors of γ -tubulin are well conserved in evolution. As indicated in the Introduction, budding yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* has a relatively simple microtubule nucleation system. This system includes γ -TuSCs and their receptors Spc110 and Spc72, which are responsible for the SPB-based organization of spindle and cytoplasmic microtubules, respectively. Spc110 is the yeast counterpart of pericentrin and contains a C-terminal calmodulin-binding domain; in addition, it also contains a CM1 domain that directly participates in γ -TuSC oligomerization in a manner that depends on cell cycle–dependent phosphorylation (Lin et al. 2014b; reviewed in Lin et al. 2014a). Spc72 is related to CDK5RAP5, with which it shares a CM1 domain; similar to its fission yeast homolog Mto1, it also has a conserved C-terminal MTOC-targeting sequence (Samejima et al. 2010). Budding yeast lacks γ -TuRC components GCP4, -5, and -6, as well as NEDD1 and MOZART homologs. These proteins, however, are present in other fungi, where they participate in recruitment of γ -tubulin to microtubule nucleation sites, but are often not essential (Masuda & Toda 2016 and references therein). Interestingly, recent detailed analysis of the

MOZART1 homolog in the fungus *Candida albicans* showed that this protein acts together with CM1-containing γ -TuRC receptors to induce efficient oligomerization of γ -TuSCs and thus promote formation of active templates for microtubule nucleation (Lin et al. 2016). Taken together, these findings indicate that γ -tubulin-dependent microtubule nucleation at MTOCs requires a set of conserved components that can be used in different combinations in various species.

Notably, oligomers or rings of γ -tubulin are not sufficient for efficient microtubule nucleation. Formation of steadily elongating microtubule plus ends is positively affected by microtubule polymerases and stabilizers and is inhibited by catastrophe-promoting factors (Wieczorek et al. 2015). Therefore, many plus end regulators—including the members of the XMAP215/ch-TOG family and their partners in the TACC (transforming acidic coiled-coil) family, as well as End-Binding (EB) proteins and their numerous interactors such as CLASPs (Akhmanova & Steinmetz 2015)—can bind to PCM components and are enriched at the centrosomes, where they regulate microtubule formation and stability.

Expansion of Pericentriolar Material in Mitosis

During cell division, the centrosome undergoes maturation, a strongly increased recruitment of PCM components, and as a result, instead of a single orderly PCM layer surrounding the centriole in interphase cells, an extended amorphous PCM is formed during mitosis (Figure 2c). A key regulator of this process is the mitotic kinase PLK1, which localizes to the centrosomes and phosphorylates PCM components to promote their assembly; another centrosomal kinase, Aurora A, also contributes to centrosome maturation (reviewed in Conduit et al. 2015b, Mennella et al. 2014. Woodruff et al. 2014). The molecular details of mitotic PCM assembly differ between species, but the basic principle appears to be the same: Assembly involves formation of an extended scaffold, the core of which consists of a few key proteins that can multimerize. In worms, such key components are the coiled-coil proteins SPD-2 and SPD-5 (the latter is the functional counterpart to, although not a homolog of, CDK5RAP2/Cnn). These proteins are mostly monomeric in the cytoplasm, but phosphorylation of SPD-5 converts it to an assembly-competent state, in which it can form networks, even in a purified form in vitro (Woodruff et al. 2015, Wueseke et al. 2016). Networks of multimerized SPD-5 recruit Plk1 and SPD-2, which in turn accelerate further PCM assembly (Woodruff et al. 2015). SPD-2 also acts as a limiting component that determines centrosome size during early worm development (Decker et al. 2011). Certain features of PCM assembly can be modeled as formation of centriole-organized autocatalytic liquid droplets (Zwicker et al. 2014).

In flies, the CDK5RAP5 homolog Cnn and Spd2 are also the key players in mitotic centrosome assembly (Conduit et al. 2015b). Cnn contains a leucine zipper region, which can multimerize in a manner that is likely dependent on Plk1 phosphorylation; moreover, overexpression of a phosphomimicking Cnn mutant can induce formation of acentrosomal MTOCs (Conduit et al. 2014). The dynamics of mitotic PCM components in fly cells is complex: Cnn is initially recruited to the centriole wall and then undergoes outward flux in a manner that is dependent on microtubules. Cnn recruitment in mitosis depends on Asl and Spd2 (Conduit et al. 2010); Spd2 also initially binds close to the centrioles and shows outward movement, albeit a microtubule-independent one (Conduit & Raff 2015 and references therein). The centriole-dependent recruitment and outward flux could represent a mechanism to regulate centrosome size; however, this mechanism does not appear to be general because SPD-5 in worms incorporates into PCM in an isotropic fashion (Laos et al. 2015).

In mammals, the crucial players in mitotic PCM expansion are pericentrin and CDK5RAP2. Pericentrin is phosphorylated by PLK1, leading to enhanced recruitment of several PCM components (Lee & Rhee 2011). Pericentrin may have some self-assembling properties, as its overexpression leads to increased PCM accumulation (Loncarek et al. 2008). In interphase, CDK5RAP2 is dependent on pericentrin for centrosome recruitment; however, during mitosis, both proteins depend on each other during PCM expansion (Kim & Rhee 2014). In flies, pericentrin (Plp)-Cnn interaction also plays a role in outer PCM formation, but the function of this interaction is less important than in mammalian cells (Richens et al. 2015). Mammalian CEP192 synergizes with pericentrin and CDK5RAP2 for PCM accumulation (Gomez-Ferreria et al. 2007, Zhu et al. 2008), and its binding partner NEDD1 is needed to recruit γ -TuRC (Haren et al. 2006, Luders et al. 2006).

The exact mechanism of PCM recruitment to the centrille wall remains an open question. During mitosis, the daughter centrille is converted into a mother centrille competent for PCM recruitment, and in both fly and human cells, this process requires sequential loading of several factors, including Cep135, Ana1 (CEP295), and Asl (CEP152) (Fu et al. 2016). Another protein that has been implicated in PCM recruitment is Sas-4/CPAP. This protein is essential for the early steps of centriole formation (reviewed in Avidor-Reiss & Gopalakrishnan 2013). In worms, reduced levels of SAS-4 lead to the reduction of PCM accumulation (Kirkham et al. 2003), and it has been proposed that in flies Sas4 forms complexes with PCM components that are recruited to centrioles (Gopalakrishnan et al. 2012). However, subsequent work has not confirmed corecruitment of Sas4 and PCM proteins; still, the Sas4 pool that is associated with the centriole can participate in recruiting Asl, a factor that is important for PCM binding around the mother centriole (Conduit et al. 2015a). Along the same lines, the mouse Asl homolog Cep152, when expressed together with Plk4, can trigger acentriolar MTOCs in fly oocytes (Coelho et al. 2013). Furthermore, a new worm centriole component, the coiled-coil protein SAS-7, was very recently shown to act upstream of SPD-2 for centriole recruitment and to participate in PCM formation (Sugioka et al. 2017). The full complexity of centriole-dependent PCM recruitment needs to be further unraveled.

Microtubule Anchoring at Centrosomes

Besides participating in microtubule nucleation, another important role of PCM is microtubule anchoring at the centrosome. This function is essential for the maintenance of a radial interphase microtubule array. In contrast, during cell division, although centrosomes are embedded in the spindle poles and drive their formation, the majority of spindle microtubules are not directly anchored at the centrosomes. Instead, spindle microtubule minus ends are assembled into spindle poles through the combined activities of MAPs and the microtubule minus end-directed motors dynein and kinesin-14 (reviewed in Maiato & Logarinho 2014). The minus ends of spindle microtubules undergo slow disassembly, resulting in their continuous poleward translocation, the process termed spindle flux (Rogers et al. 2005). Different centrosomal and spindle pole proteins participate in linking the two structures (reviewed in Chavali et al. 2015); for example, CDK5RAP2 binds to the kinesin-14 HSET (human spleen, embryo, and testes expressed protein), and this complex attaches centrosomes to the pole and drives clustering of supernumerary centrosomes into pseudobipolar spindles (Chavali et al. 2016).

Because microtubule nucleation and anchoring are mechanistically distinct processes, microtubules can be promptly released from their nucleation sites. Experiments with washout of microtubule-depolymerizing drugs such as nocodazole, which are frequently used to assess MTOC activity, can thus be misleading because they can provide information on the cellular sites that can initiate formation of new microtubules but do not necessarily have the capacity to retain them.

The mechanism of microtubule anchoring at the centrosome is traditionally believed to involve capping of microtubule minus ends by γ -TuRCs. Recent work in mammalian cells showed that free, uncapped microtubule minus ends rapidly recruit members of the CAMSAP family,

even when microtubules are nucleated at and subsequently released from the centrosome (Jiang et al. 2014). Because no CAMSAPs can be detected at the centrosome in steady-state conditions, these data suggest that all centrosomal microtubule minus end are indeed capped by γ -TuRC or other factors. An important centrosomal component required for microtubule anchoring is ninein. Ninein, a coiled-coil protein, requires pericentrin for its centrosomal localization (Chen et al. 2014); it participates in γ -TuRC and microtubule retention at the centrosome (Delgehyr et al. 2005). Immobilized aggregates of NOCA-1, the worm counterpart of ninein, can capture microtubule ends in vitro (Wang et al. 2015), but it is not known whether the protein can specifically recognize microtubule minus ends in either a free or a γ -TuRC-bound form. Ninein is enriched at the tips of subdistal appendages of the mother centrole, which are involved in microtubule anchoring (Mogensen et al. 2000), and increased expression of ninein can inhibit microtubule release from the centrosome (Abal et al. 2002).

Other proteins important for microtubule anchoring at centrosomes and SPBs in organisms ranging from yeast to mammals are members of the MSD1/SSX2IP (mitotic spindle disanchored 1/synovial sarcoma, X breakpoint 2 interacting protein) family (for review, see Hori & Toda 2017). In fission yeast, the complex of Msd1 with another conserved protein, Wdr8, is transported to the SBPs by the minus end–directed kinesin-14 and is required for minus end tethering (Yukawa et al. 2015). In vertebrates, MSD1/SSX2IP and Wdr8 also form a complex that interacts with γ -TuRC and that is required for centrosomal microtubule organization; the minus end–directed transport of this complex depends on dynein (Hori et al. 2014, Inoue et al. 2017). Furthermore, several other proteins are required for centrosomal anchoring; these include trichoplein and ODF2, which may cooperate with ninein (Ibi et al. 2011), and EB1 (Askham et al. 2002), which acts together with the centrosomally localized proteins CAP350 and FOP (Yan et al. 2006).

Another major player in both centrosome-dependent microtubule retention and protein delivery to the centrosomes and cilia is cytoplasmic dynein (Balczon et al. 1999, Burakov et al. 2008). Many centrosome and ciliary proteins, including ninein and MSD1/SSX2IP, are delivered to centrosomes as a part of centriolar satellites, mobile protein particles organized by the self-assembling coiled-coil protein PCM-1 (reviewed in Hori & Toda 2017). Other centrosome components such as pericentrin do not associate with centriolar satellites and interact with dynein directly (Purohit et al. 1999). Another pathway of dynein-mediated transport of PCM components, such as γ -tubulin, depends on Rab11-positive recycling endosomes and is active in mitosis (Hehnly & Doxsey 2014). PCM-based organization of microtubule minus ends and dynein-based minus end-directed transport of PCM components thus create a positive feedback loop that supports centrosome formation and maintenance.

Centrosome Perturbations in Human Disease

In agreement with the fact that centrosome function is important but not essential for different cellular processes, mutations in many centriolar and centrosome components do not cause lethality but rather lead to severe development defects. A major type of such developmental disorders is primary autosomal recessive microcephaly (microcephaly primary hereditary), in which patients are born with small brains and simplified gyri and display different levels of intellectual disability (reviewed in Barbelanne & Tsang 2014, Chavali et al. 2014). Some mutations in centrosome proteins also lead to primordial dwarfism, a condition whereby patients are born with small brains and small stature. For example, mutations in the gene encoding pericentrin can lead to dwarfism, microcephaly, and mental retardation (reviewed in Delaval & Doxsey 2010), whereas mutations in the gene coding for CDK5RAP2 cause Seckel syndrome, which is characterized by prenatal proportionate short stature, severe microcephaly, and intellectual disability (Yigit et al. 2015).

Moreover, mutations in genes encoding centrosomal protein CEP152 as well as centriole assembly factors CPAP, STIL, and CEP135 cause microcephaly (Barbelanne & Tsang 2014). The spindle misorientation and mitotic delay caused by centrosome defects likely affect the balance between proliferation and differentiation of progenitor cells or cause their apoptosis, resulting in a smaller number of cells in the brain or the whole body. The observation that most tissues develop relatively normally in these patients suggests that the centrosome is more important for controlling cell numbers than for cell polarity and differentiation.

Increased centrosome numbers are also deleterious because they can cause formation of multipolar spindles, and although such structures are typically transient and evolve into bipolar spindles through clustering of extra poles, they can affect the fidelity of mitosis and result in genome instability, which is often associated with cancer. Moreover, enhancing MTOC function by increasing centrosome numbers promotes invasive behavior of tumor cells (Godinho et al. 2014). These topics and the potential of using centrosome proteins as anticancer targets have been extensively reviewed recently (Maiato & Logarinho 2014, Milunovic-Jevtic et al. 2016) and are not discussed here.

THE GOLGI APPARATUS AS A MICROTUBULE-ORGANIZING CENTER IN MAMMALIAN CELLS

Even in cells with a seemingly radial microtubule system, such as fibroblasts, a significant proportion of microtubules do not converge in a single $\sim 1-\mu$ m-large site, indicating that they are not attached to the centrosome. The Golgi apparatus represents the second major mammalian MTOC, which functions in both microtubule nucleation and anchoring (Chabin-Brion et al. 2001; reviewed in Rios 2014, Zhu & Kaverina 2013). In certain types of mammalian cells, such as retinal pigment epithelium cells (RPE1 cells), nearly half of all cellular microtubules initiate at the Golgi apparatus (Efimov et al. 2007). The ability of the Golgi apparatus to organize microtubules is functionally important for several reasons. First, in mammalian cells, Golgi membranes are positioned close to the centrosome by dynein-mediated transport (Corthesy-Theulaz et al. 1992), and Golgi-anchored microtubules help to assemble dispersed Golgi stacks into the Golgi ribbon after mitosis (Miller et al. 2009; reviewed in Rios 2014, Zhu & Kaverina 2013). Second, in contrast to the centrosome, which forms a symmetric array, Golgi-derived microtubule networks are polarized and can thus drive asymmetric vesicle transport and promote overall cell polarity (Hurtado et al. 2011; Vinogradova et al. 2009, 2012). Recent work showed that in mesenchymal cells, the presence of Golgi-attached microtubules accelerates reorientation of the whole microtubule network, including the centrosome, in the direction of migration (Wu et al. 2016). This suggests that the centrosome may be the passenger and not the driver during cell polarization. Golgi-derived microtubules become particularly important when mesenchymal-type migration of cancer cells is examined in a soft three-dimensional matrix (Wu et al. 2016), which represents a more natural substrate for these cells than the conventional hard two-dimensional substrates, such as coverslips. This finding supports the idea that microtubule organization and dynamics are much more important for cell migration in soft 3D substrates than on hard 2D surfaces (Bouchet et al. 2016; reviewed in Bouchet & Akhmanova 2017). Furthermore, Golgi membranes control formation of noncentrosomal microtubule arrays in differentiated cells, including pancreatic *β*-cells and muscle cells (Oddoux et al. 2013, Zhu et al. 2015). In dendrites of fly neurons, the so-called Golgi outposts regulate neurite outgrowth and branching and are associated with γ -tubulin-binding factors (Ori-McKenney et al. 2012, Yalgin et al. 2015). However, a significant part of γ -tubulin-dependent microtubule nucleation in fly dendrites occurs in a Golgi-independent manner (Nguyen et al. 2014).

The pathway of microtubule organization at the Golgi apparatus is well understood and shows interesting similarities and differences with centrosomes (Figure 3*a*). The core component



Figure 3

Microtubule organization at the Golgi apparatus. (*a*) Microtubule nucleation and tethering at the Golgi apparatus. GM130, localized to the *cis*-Golgi, binds to AKAP450, a PACT domain protein similar to pericentrin (alternative mammalian protein names are indicated). AKAP450 recruits CDK5RAP2 as well as its homolog, myomegalin. AKAP450, CDK5RAP2, and myomegalin can recruit γ -TuRC; among these, CDK5RAP2 is the most potent, but AKAP450 is sufficient for γ -TuRC recruitment and Golgi-dependent microtubule nucleation. CLASP1/2 promotes microtubule nucleation. Microtubules released from γ -TuRC are stabilized from their minus ends by CAMSAP2; CLASP1/2 promotes formation or stability of CAMSAP2-decorated microtubule stretches. A complex of AKAP450 and myomegalin tethers CAMSAP2-decorated microtubule binding protein MTCL1 can participate in microtubule tethering. (*b*) Phenotypes associated with the loss of different factors. In control cells, a centrosomal aster and a polarized Golgi-associated microtubule array are present. The latter is lost in the absence of CAMSAP2 or CLASP1/2. In the absence of AKAP450 or myomegalin, CAMSAP2-stabilized microtubule minus ends detach from the Golgi apparatus.

responsible for microtubule organization at the Golgi apparatus is AKAP450 (also known as AKAP9 or CG-NAP) (reviewed in Rios 2014). This large coiled-coil protein is similar to pericentrin, as it has a C-terminal PACT domain, and it can also associate with centrosomes and CDK5RAP2 (Gillingham & Munro 2000, Wang et al. 2010). However, although the role of AKAP450 at the centrosome is relatively minor, it strongly accumulates at the *cis*-Golgi by binding with its N terminus to the Golgi protein GM130 (Hurtado et al. 2011, Rivero et al. 2009). AKAP450 can recruit γ -tubulin either directly, through a binding site in its C-terminal part, or indirectly, by targeting to the Golgi the γ -TuRC-binding proteins CDK5RAP2 and its paralog, myomegalin (Roubin et al. 2013; Wang et al. 2010, 2014; Wu et al. 2016) (**Figure 3***a*). In the absence of AKAP450, no microtubule nucleation at the Golgi takes place (Rivero et al. 2009, Wu et al. 2016).

Interestingly, the complex of AKAP450, CDK5RAP2, and myomegalin is insufficient to anchor microtubules to the Golgi (Wu et al. 2016). An important player in this latter process is CAMSAP2, which forms stable stretches at the free, growing microtubule minus ends (Jiang et al. 2014). These stretches are tethered to the Golgi membranes by the complex of AKAP450 and myomegalin, whereas CDK5RAP2 does not participate in this function (Wu et al. 2016) (**Figure 3***a*). Microtubules that originate from either the Golgi or the centrosome and that have lost their γ -TuRC cap can be stabilized by CAMSAP2 and attached to Golgi membranes through this mechanism.

Another factor important for Golgi microtubule organization is the microtubule plus endbinding and -stabilizing protein CLASP (which is represented in mammals by two paralogs, CLASP1 and CLASP2) (Efimov et al. 2007). CLASPs promote microtubule nucleation at the Golgi, possibly by reducing the kinetic barrier for microtubule outgrowth from γ -TuRC templates (Sanders & Kaverina 2015), and they are also needed for the stabilization of CAMSAP2decorated microtubule stretches (Wu et al. 2016). CLASPs can also tether microtubules to the Golgi apparatus by binding to the trans-Golgi protein GCC185 (Efimov et al. 2007) (Figure 3a). In the absence of CAMSAP2 or CLASPs, the majority of noncentrosomal microtubules are lost, and the only remaining microtubules are those emanating from the centrosome (Efimov et al. 2007, Jiang et al. 2014) (Figure 3b). In contrast, in the absence of AKAP450, numerous noncentrosomal, CAMSAP2-stabilized microtubules are present, but they are not connected to Golgi membranes (Wu et al. 2016) (Figure 3b). Another MAP, MTCL1, which appears to interact with both AKAP450 and CLASPs, also contributes to microtubule tethering to the Golgi apparatus (Sato et al. 2014). Furthermore, the centrosomal protein CAP350 was implicated in the stabilization of Golgi microtubules (Hoppeler-Lebel et al. 2007). Together, these data demonstrate that, whereas microtubule nucleation at the Golgi apparatus is similar to that at the centrosome and uses an overlapping set of factors, microtubule tethering to Golgi membranes is γ -TuRC independent and requires multiple MAPs.

The understanding of the Golgi-microtubule association pathway allowed for critical reassessment of the idea that centrosomal and Golgi-derived microtubules are needed for the assembly of a single Golgi apparatus in mammalian cells. Interestingly, in cells that could neither nucleate nor tether microtubules at the Golgi membranes due to the absence of AKAP450, and that were also depleted of centrosomes by using a Plk4 inhibitor, a single Golgi apparatus could still form and reform from a dispersed state after microtubules were disassembled and repolymerized (Wu et al. 2016). Surprisingly, in these conditions, the Golgi apparatus appeared overly compact and exhibited an increased number of associated vesicles (Wu et al. 2016). These data showed that microtubule-based transport, but not microtubule anchoring at the Golgi, is essential for formation of a single Golgi apparatus; however, association with a dense microtubule network is likely required for normal vesicle transport to and from the Golgi area.

MICROTUBULE ORGANIZATION AT THE NUCLEAR ENVELOPE

In plant cells, as well as in certain differentiated animal cells such as muscle cells, microtubule minus ends are organized at the nuclear envelope (reviewed in Petry & Vale 2015). Plant cells lack centrosomes and instead nucleate microtubules from other microtubules, the cell cortex, or the nuclear envelope (Masoud et al. 2013). Homologs of major PCM proteins such as pericentrin or CDK5RAP2 are absent in plants (Yamada & Goshima 2017). However, the counterparts of MOZART proteins, the GCP3-interacting proteins GIP1 and GIP2, are present and participate in anchoring γ -TuRCs to the nuclear envelope, possibly through a plant-specific transmembrane anchor (Batzenschlager et al. 2013). GIP– γ -tubulin complexes are important for different aspects of plant microtubule organization and contribute to controlling nuclear architecture (Batzenschlager et al. 2014). A plant homolog of NEDD1 was also reported to localize to the nuclear envelope in prophase *Arabidopsis* cells (Zeng et al. 2009).

In muscle cells, the nuclear envelope, which is associated with γ -tubulin, pericentrin, and ninein, functions as an MTOC responsible for both microtubule nucleation and anchoring (Bugnard et al. 2005, Tassin et al. 1985). Pericentrin is redistributed from the centrosome to the nuclear envelope during myoblast differentiation (Fant et al. 2009). LINC (linker of nucleoskeleton and cytoskeleton) complexes, which consist of SUN domain proteins in the inner nuclear membrane and KASH domain proteins in the outer membrane (reviewed in Kim et al. 2015), are good candidates for the recruitment of centrosomal proteins to the nuclear envelope. A recent study reported that Emery-Dreifuss muscular dystrophy patients with mutations in SUN1 and SUN2 have defects in the recruitment of pericentrin to the nuclear envelope in muscle cells; consequently, microtubule nucleation from the nuclear envelope is impaired (Meinke et al. 2014). Myotube nuclei organize microtubules in a semiparallel array, with most microtubules aligned along the long cell axis. Interestingly, muscle microtubules nucleate also from the Golgi membranes, and γ -tubulin and pericentrin have been detected on these membranes (Oddoux et al. 2013), suggesting that the nuclear envelope and Golgi membranes cooperate in microtubule organization in muscle cells.

In yeast, the SPBs are embedded in the nuclear envelope, and yeast SUN and KASH proteins participate in SPB insertion into the nuclear envelope, as well as in SPB duplication and function (see Kim et al. 2015 and Walde & King 2014 and references therein). LINC complexes also play an important role in the indirect connection between the nucleus and centrosomes through the microtubule cytoskeleton (Kim et al. 2015).

MICROTUBULE ORGANIZATION BY CHROMATIN AND KINETOCHORES

During mitosis, microtubule nucleation is strongly increased around chromatin, which stimulates the formation of a gradient of Ran-GTP that in turn activates several spindle assembly factors, such as TPX2 (reviewed in Clarke & Zhang 2008). Besides the Ran-GTP pathway, the chromosomal passenger complex, which consists of Aurora B kinase and several scaffolding proteins, can promote the generation of microtubules from chromatin (Clarke & Zhang 2008). It has been proposed that nuclear pore components bind to chromatin or kinetochores, interact with γ -TuRC, and act as seeds for microtubule assembly (Mishra et al. 2010, Yokoyama et al. 2014). However, it is also possible that a diffuse pool of γ -tubulin concentrated around chromosomes promotes microtubule nucleation or capping. Chromatin-mediated microtubule nucleation depends on NEDD1 (Luders et al. 2006). This function is positively regulated through NEDD1 phosphorylation by Aurora A, which in turn is activated by TPX2 (Pinyol et al. 2013, Scrofani et al. 2015). In addition, TPX2

MICROTUBULE GROWTH FROM PREEXISTING MICROTUBULES

In addition to the centrosome and membrane organelles, preexisting microtubules can also nucleate new microtubules. In animal and plant cells, this process critically depends on the evolutionarily conserved complex augmin (reviewed in Sanchez-Huertas & Luders 2015). Augmin plays an essential role in microtubule nucleation from spindle microtubules and thus controls spindle microtubule density (Goshima et al. 2008). In human cells, augmin is composed of eight subunits that are named HAUS (homologous to augmin subunits) (Uehara et al. 2009). In vitro reconstitutions showed that augmin is a Y-shaped structure that has affinity for microtubules (Hsia et al. 2014). In plants, the augmin complex is also composed of eight subunits, two of which are plant specific (Hotta et al. 2012).

Augmin localizes to interphase centrosomes and to mitotic spindle microtubules, and its depletion causes multiple mitotic defects (Lawo et al. 2009, Uehara et al. 2009). Augmin is also critical for organizing spindles in *Xenopus* eggs and in *Arabidopsis* (Ho et al. 2011, Petry et al. 2011). Recently, augmin-based microtubule nucleation was also shown to occur in nonmitotic cells, such as interphase plant cells and neurons (T. Liu et al. 2014, Sanchez-Huertas et al. 2016). The mechanism of how augmin promotes microtubule-based microtubule nucleation was initially believed to depend mostly on γ -TuRC (Petry et al. 2011, Uehara et al. 2009). Use of *Xenopus* egg extracts allowed investigators to observe a strikingly clear branching microtubule nucleation and demonstrated that this process also depends on TPX2, a Ran effector (Petry et al. 2013).

Augmin-nucleated microtubule branches grow toward the plus ends of mother microtubules. In contrast, in fission yeast, where microtubule-based microtubule nucleation is also an important mechanism, the newly formed microtubules grow in the direction opposite to that of the mother microtubule. The key players in microtubule nucleation in fission yeast are Mto1 (a homolog of CDK5RAP2) and Mto2, which together form a multimeric complex that recruits and activates γ -tubulin (Lynch et al. 2014). The antiparallel organization of fission yeast microtubules is determined not by γ -tubulin receptors, but by motors and MAPs (Janson et al. 2007).

MICROTUBULE ORGANIZATION AT THE CELL CORTEX

In plants, a very significant proportion of microtubules is organized into sheetlike arrays associated with the cell cortex, but the mechanisms underlying such organization are incompletely understood (Hamada 2014). In animals, epithelial cells often acquire acentrosomal, longitudinally organized parallel microtubule arrays with microtubule minus ends attached to the cell cortex; in cells showing apico-basal polarity, microtubule minus ends are located at the apical side and the plus ends at the basal side (reviewed in Sanchez & Feldman 2017). Such microtubule organization is very important for cell polarization because plus end– and minus end–directed transport ensures asymmetric distribution of structural and signaling components. Retaining centrosomal microtubule organization in epithelial cells can inhibit cell polarization, for example, by blocking dynein-based apical vesicle delivery (Noordstra et al. 2016).

Both γ -tubulin- and CAMSAP/Patronin-dependent pathways play a role in organizing cortical microtubule minus ends (**Figure 4**). During cell differentiation, cell cycle exit is often accompanied by the loss of centrosome activity. In mouse keratinocytes, such loss occurs because NEDD1 expression is downregulated and the centrosome cannot anchor microtubules (Muroyama et al. 2016). In differentiated epithelial cells, γ -TuRC is relocalized to the apical surface; this event



Figure 4

Mechanisms of cortical microtubule minus end anchoring. Microtubule minus ends can be stabilized and anchored at the cortex through two pathways. One of them involves γ -TuRC and ninein. How γ -TuRC is recruited to the apical cortex is not clear, but this process does not require ninein. Ninein can be attached to cell-cell junctions by desmoplakin; how it attaches to the apical cell cortex in epithelial cells is not clear, but γ -TuRC appears to be involved. The second pathway, which operates in human and fly epithelia and the anterior cortex of fly oocyte, involves CAMSAP3 or Patronin, as well as the actin-microtubule cross-linking factor spectraplakin. In fly epithelial cells, spectrin is involved. In fly oocytes, the microtubule-severing protein katanin is also present in the complex; fly spectraplakin is excluded from the posterior cortex through the activity of Par-1 kinase. Abbreviations: Ce, *Caenorbabditis elegans*; Dm, *Drosophila melanogaster*; Hm, *Homo sapiens*.

depends on cortical proteins, such as the polarity regulator Par3 in worms, the transmembrane protein Piopio in flies, and the actin-associated factor Shroom in *Xenopus* (Brodu et al. 2010, Feldman & Priess 2012, Lee et al. 2007). The nature of the γ -tubulin receptors at the cortex requires further elucidation. Furthermore, the microtubule-anchoring protein ninein is an important player in microtubule organization in epithelia; in keratinocytes, it localizes to cell-cell junctions by interacting with desmoplakin (Lechler & Fuchs 2007), whereas in intestinal cells, it binds to the apical cortex (Goldspink et al. 2017). In both mammalian and worm cells, cortical ninein acts downstream of γ -tubulin, possibly by anchoring γ -tubulin-nucleated microtubules (Goldspink et al. 2017).

An alternative pathway of cortical microtubule anchoring depends on the mammalian protein CAMSAP3 or its invertebrate homolog Patronin. In mammalian intestinal cells, loss of CAMSAP3 causes severe disorganization of apico-basal arrays, although such loss is not lethal in mice (Toya et al. 2016). In hair cells of the organ of Corti, a specific CAMSAP3 isoform colocalizes with cortical noncentrosomal MTOCs (Zheng et al. 2013). Targeting of CAMSAP3 to the cell cortex depends on the spectraplakin ACF7 (Ning et al. 2016, Noordstra et al. 2016) (Figure 4). A similar protein complex exists in fly epithelial cells, where spectrins located at the apical cortex

participate in recruitment of the complex of Patronin and the spectraplakin homolog Short Stop (Shot) (Khanal et al. 2016); Shot is, however, not essential for apical localization of Patronin (Nashchekin et al. 2016). Cortical noncentrosomal MTOCs, which contain Patronin, Shot, and the microtubule-severing protein katanin, are also formed in fly oocytes (Nashchekin et al. 2016) (**Figure 4**). Similarly, CAMSAPs and katanin interact in mammalian cells (Jiang et al. 2014), but it is currently unknown whether katanin participates in cortical minus end organization in mammals.

Importantly, genetic work in worm demonstrated that the ninein homolog NOCA-1, which acts together with γ -tubulin, is essential for microtubule organization in the germline but is redundant with Patronin in larval epidermis (Wang et al. 2015). It would be important to find out whether ninein and CAMSAP3 control two redundant pathways of microtubule minus end anchoring in mammals, explaining why CAMSAP3 is not essential in mice.

FUTURE DIRECTIONS: UNDERSTANDING TRANSITIONS BETWEEN DIFFERENT TYPES OF MICROTUBULE ORGANIZATION

The examples described above demonstrate that the activities of different types of MTOCs are strongly regulated during cell cycle progression and differentiation. For example, during mitosis, the activity of the centrosome is upregulated, whereas the ability of the Golgi apparatus to nucleate microtubules is inhibited (Maia et al. 2013). In innate immune cells, centrosomes undergo Plk1-independent maturation in interphase in response to inflammation and promote cytokine production (Vertii et al. 2016). In contrast, in many other differentiating cell types, such as epithelial cells and neurons, centrosomes are switched off; as described above, this process is accompanied by the relocation of γ -TuRC and by downregulation or inactivation of certain PCM components (Muroyama et al. 2016, Yang & Feldman 2015, Yau et al. 2014). During differentiation of neuronal progenitors into neurons, cells switch between centrosome-associated and noncentrosomal ninein splice isoforms (Zhang et al. 2016). Furthermore, CAMSAP2, which is inactive during mitosis due to phosphorylation, becomes active in interphase and is important for the development of dense, noncentrosomal microtubule arrays in differentiating neurons (Yau et al. 2014).

Competition between different structures with MTOC properties may play a role in controlling the balance between their activities. For example, whereas γ -tubulin is difficult to detect at the Golgi apparatus in normal cells, it becomes clearly enriched at Golgi membranes of cells in which centrioles and centrosomes are removed due to Plk4 inhibition (Wu et al. 2016). Interestingly, cells lacking centrosomes form unfocused, noncentrosomal microtubule arrays that depend on CAMSAP2; however, cells that lack both centrioles and CAMSAP2 assemble a single acentriolar PCM cluster, which drives formation of a radial microtubule array (Wu et al. 2016). These data emphasize the self-assembling properties of PCM and show that microtubule minus end stabilization pathways can compete with each other. Future studies will reveal how cells employ posttranslational modifications, expression of specific regulators, and competitive relationships between microtubule minus end–organizing sites to control specific types of microtubule arrays.

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by the China Scholarship Council scholarship to J.W.

LITERATURE CITED

- Abal M, Piel M, Bouckson-Castaing V, Mogensen M, Sibarita JB, Bornens M. 2002. Microtubule release from the centrosome in migrating cells. J. Cell Biol. 159:731–37
- Akhmanova A, Hoogenraad CC. 2015. Microtubule minus-end-targeting proteins. Curr. Biol. 25:R162-71
- Akhmanova A, Steinmetz MO. 2015. Control of microtubule organization and dynamics: two ends in the limelight. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 16:711–26
- Anders A, Sawin KE. 2011. Microtubule stabilization in vivo by nucleation-incompetent gamma-tubulin complex. J. Cell Sci. 124:1207–13
- Andersen JS, Wilkinson CJ, Mayor T, Mortensen P, Nigg EA, Mann M. 2003. Proteomic characterization of the human centrosome by protein correlation profiling. *Nature* 426:570–74
- Askham JM, Vaughan KT, Goodson HV, Morrison EE. 2002. Evidence that an interaction between EB1 and p150^{Glued} is required for the formation and maintenance of a radial microtubule array anchored at the centrosome. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 13:3627–45
- Avidor-Reiss T, Gopalakrishnan J. 2013. Building a centriole. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 25:72-77
- Azimzadeh J. 2014. Exploring the evolutionary history of centrosomes. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 369:20130453
- Azimzadeh J, Marshall WF. 2010. Building the centriole. Curr. Biol. 20:R816-25
- Azimzadeh J, Wong ML, Downhour DM, Sanchez Alvarado A, Marshall WF. 2012. Centrosome loss in the evolution of planarians. Science 335:461–63
- Balczon R, Varden CE, Schroer TA. 1999. Role for microtubules in centrosome doubling in Chinese hamster ovary cells. *Cell Motil. Cytoskelet*. 42:60–72
- Barbelanne M, Tsang WY. 2014. Molecular and cellular basis of autosomal recessive primary microcephaly. Biomed. Res. Int. 2014;547986

Basto R, Lau J, Vinogradova T, Gardiol A, Woods CG, et al. 2006. Flies without centrioles. Cell 125:1375-86

- Batzenschlager M, Herzog E, Houlne G, Schmit AC, Chaboute ME. 2014. GIP/MZT1 proteins orchestrate nuclear shaping. Front. Plant Sci. 5:29
- Batzenschlager M, Masoud K, Janski N, Houlne G, Herzog E, et al. 2013. The GIP gamma-tubulin complexassociated proteins are involved in nuclear architecture in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Front. Plant Sci. 4:480
- Bazzi H, Anderson KV. 2014. Acentriolar mitosis activates a p53-dependent apoptosis pathway in the mouse embryo. PNAS 111:E1491–500
- Bornens M. 2012. The centrosome in cells and organisms. Science 335:422-26
- Bouchet BP, Akhmanova A. 2017. Microtubules in 3D cell motility. J. Cell Sci. 130:39-50
- Bouchet BP, Noordstra I, van Amersfoort M, Katrukha EA, Ammon YC, et al. 2016. Mesenchymal cell invasion requires cooperative regulation of persistent microtubule growth by SLAIN2 and CLASP1. *Dev. Cell* 39:708–23
- Brodu V, Baffet AD, Le Droguen PM, Casanova J, Guichet A. 2010. A developmentally regulated two-step process generates a noncentrosomal microtubule network in *Drosophila* tracheal cells. *Dev. Cell* 18:790– 801
- Bugnard E, Zaal KJ, Ralston E. 2005. Reorganization of microtubule nucleation during muscle differentiation. Cell Motil. Cytoskelet. 60:1–13
- Burakov A, Kovalenko O, Semenova I, Zhapparova O, Nadezhdina E, Rodionov V. 2008. Cytoplasmic dynein is involved in the retention of microtubules at the centrosome in interphase cells. *Traffic* 9:472–80

Burute M, Prioux M, Blin G, Truchet S, Letort G, et al. 2017. Polarity reversal by centrosome repositioning primes cell scattering during epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition. Dev. Cell 40:168–84

- Chabin-Brion K, Marceiller J, Perez F, Settegrana C, Drechou A, et al. 2001. The Golgi complex is a microtubule-organizing organelle. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 12:2047–60
- Chavali PL, Chandrasekaran G, Barr AR, Tatrai P, Taylor C, et al. 2016. A CEP215-HSET complex links centrosomes with spindle poles and drives centrosome clustering in cancer. *Nat. Commun.* 7:11005
- Chavali PL, Peset I, Gergely F. 2015. Centrosomes and mitotic spindle poles: a recent liaison? *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 43:13–18
- Chavali PL, Putz M, Gergely F. 2014. Small organelle, big responsibility: the role of centrosomes in development and disease. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 369:20130468

- Chen CT, Hehnly H, Yu Q, Farkas D, Zheng G, et al. 2014. A unique set of centrosome proteins requires pericentrin for spindle-pole localization and spindle orientation. *Curr. Biol.* 24:2327–34
- Choi YK, Liu P, Sze SK, Dai C, Qi RZ. 2010. CDK5RAP2 stimulates microtubule nucleation by the gammatubulin ring complex. J. Cell Biol. 191:1089–95
- Clarke PR, Zhang C. 2008. Spatial and temporal coordination of mitosis by Ran GTPase. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 9:464–77
- Coelho PA, Bury L, Sharif B, Riparbelli MG, Fu J, et al. 2013. Spindle formation in the mouse embryo requires Plk4 in the absence of centrioles. *Dev. Cell* 27:586–97
- Conduit PT, Brunk K, Dobbelaere J, Dix CI, Lucas EP, Raff JW. 2010. Centrioles regulate centrosome size by controlling the rate of Cnn incorporation into the PCM. *Curr. Biol.* 20:2178–86
- Conduit PT, Feng Z, Richens JH, Baumbach J, Wainman A, et al. 2014. The centrosome-specific phosphorylation of Cnn by Polo/Plk1 drives Cnn scaffold assembly and centrosome maturation. *Dev. Cell* 28:659–69
- Conduit PT, Raff JW. 2015. Different Drosophila cell types exhibit differences in mitotic centrosome assembly dynamics. Curr. Biol. 25:R650–51
- Conduit PT, Wainman A, Novak ZA, Weil TT, Raff JW. 2015a. Re-examining the role of *Drosophila* Sas-4 in centrosome assembly using two-colour-3D-SIM FRAP. *eLife* 4:e08483
- Conduit PT, Wainman A, Raff JW. 2015b. Centrosome function and assembly in animal cells. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 16:611–24
- Corthesy-Theulaz I, Pauloin A, Pfeffer SR. 1992. Cytoplasmic dynein participates in the centrosomal localization of the Golgi complex. J. Cell Biol. 118:1333–45
- Courtois A, Schuh M, Ellenberg J, Hiiragi T. 2012. The transition from meiotic to mitotic spindle assembly is gradual during early mammalian development. *J. Cell Biol.* 198:357–70
- Decker M, Jaensch S, Pozniakovsky A, Zinke A, O'Connell KF, et al. 2011. Limiting amounts of centrosome material set centrosome size in C. elegans embryos. Curr. Biol. 21:1259–67
- Delaval B, Doxsey SJ. 2010. Pericentrin in cellular function and disease. J. Cell Biol. 188:181-90
- Delgehyr N, Sillibourne J, Bornens M. 2005. Microtubule nucleation and anchoring at the centrosome are independent processes linked by ninein function. J. Cell Sci. 118:1565–75
- Dzhindzhev NS, Yu QD, Weiskopf K, Tzolovsky G, Cunha-Ferreira I, et al. 2010. Asterless is a scaffold for the onset of centriole assembly. *Nature* 467:714–18
- Efimov A, Kharitonov A, Efimova N, Loncarek J, Miller PM, et al. 2007. Asymmetric CLASP-dependent nucleation of noncentrosomal microtubules at the trans-Golgi network. *Dev. Cell* 12:917–30
- Euteneuer U, Graf R, Kube-Granderath E, Schliwa M. 1998. *Dictyostelium* gamma-tubulin: molecular characterization and ultrastructural localization. *J. Cell Sci.* 111(Pt 3):405–12
- Fant X, Srsen V, Espigat-Georger A, Merdes A. 2009. Nuclei of non-muscle cells bind centrosome proteins upon fusion with differentiating myoblasts. *PLOS ONE* 4:e8303
- Farina F, Gaillard J, Guerin C, Coute Y, Sillibourne J, et al. 2016. The centrosome is an actin-organizing centre. Nat. Cell Biol. 18:65–75
- Feldman JL, Priess JR. 2012. A role for the centrosome and PAR-3 in the hand-off of MTOC function during epithelial polarization. Curr. Biol. 22:575–82
- Fong CS, Mazo G, Das T, Goodman J, Kim M, et al. 2016. 53BP1 and USP28 mediate p53-dependent cell cycle arrest in response to centrosome loss and prolonged mitosis. *eLife* 5:e16270
- Fu J, Lipinszki Z, Rangone H, Min M, Mykura C, et al. 2016. Conserved molecular interactions in centrioleto-centrosome conversion. Nat. Cell Biol. 18:87–99
- Gillingham AK, Munro S. 2000. The PACT domain, a conserved centrosomal targeting motif in the coiled-coil proteins AKAP450 and pericentrin. EMBO Rep. 1:524–29
- Godinho SA, Picone R, Burute M, Dagher R, Su Y, et al. 2014. Oncogene-like induction of cellular invasion from centrosome amplification. *Nature* 510:167–71
- Goldspink DA, Rookyard C, Tyrrell BJ, Gadsby J, Perkins J, et al. 2017. Ninein is essential for apico-basal microtubule formation and CLIP-170 facilitates its redeployment to non-centrosomal microtubule organizing centres. Open Biol. 7:60274
- Gomez-Ferreria MA, Rath U, Buster DW, Chanda SK, Caldwell JS, et al. 2007. Human Cep192 is required for mitotic centrosome and spindle assembly. *Curr. Biol.* 17:1960–66

- Goodwin SS, Vale RD. 2010. Patronin regulates the microtubule network by protecting microtubule minus ends. *Cell* 143:263–74
- Gopalakrishnan J, Chim YC, Ha A, Basiri ML, Lerit DA, et al. 2012. Tubulin nucleotide status controls Sas-4-dependent pericentriolar material recruitment. Nat. Cell Biol. 14:865–73
- Goshima G, Mayer M, Zhang N, Stuurman N, Vale RD. 2008. Augmin: a protein complex required for centrosome-independent microtubule generation within the spindle. *7. Cell Biol.* 181:421–29
- Gräf R, Batsios P, Meyer I. 2015. Evolution of centrosomes and the nuclear lamina: Amoebozoan assets. Eur. J. Cell Biol. 94:249–56
- Hamada T. 2014. Microtubule organization and microtubule-associated proteins in plant cells. Int. Rev. Cell Mol. Biol. 312:1–52
- Hannak E, Oegema K, Kirkham M, Gonczy P, Habermann B, Hyman AA. 2002. The kinetically dominant assembly pathway for centrosomal asters in *Caenorhabditis elegans* is gamma-tubulin dependent. *J. Cell Biol.* 157:591–602
- Haren L, Remy MH, Bazin I, Callebaut I, Wright M, Merdes A. 2006. NEDD1-dependent recruitment of the gamma-tubulin ring complex to the centrosome is necessary for centriole duplication and spindle assembly. J. Cell Biol. 172:505–15
- Hehnly H, Doxsey S. 2014. Rab11 endosomes contribute to mitotic spindle organization and orientation. Dev. Cell 28:497–507
- Hendershott MC, Vale RD. 2014. Regulation of microtubule minus-end dynamics by CAMSAPs and Patronin. PNAS 111:5860–65
- Ho CM, Hotta T, Kong Z, Zeng CJ, Sun J, et al. 2011. Augmin plays a critical role in organizing the spindle and phragmoplast microtubule arrays in *Arabidopsis. Plant Cell* 23:2606–18
- Hodges ME, Scheumann N, Wickstead B, Langdale JA, Gull K. 2010. Reconstructing the evolutionary history of the centriole from protein components. J. Cell Sci. 123:1407–13
- Hoppeler-Lebel A, Celati C, Bellett G, Mogensen MM, Klein-Hitpass L, et al. 2007. Centrosomal CAP350 protein stabilises microtubules associated with the Golgi complex. J. Cell Sci. 120:3299–308
- Hori A, Ikebe C, Tada M, Toda T. 2014. Msd1/SSX2IP-dependent microtubule anchorage ensures spindle orientation and primary cilia formation. EMBO Rep. 15:175–84
- Hori A, Toda T. 2017. Regulation of centriolar satellite integrity and its physiology. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 74:213–29
- Hotta T, Kong Z, Ho CM, Zeng CJ, Horio T, et al. 2012. Characterization of the *Arabidopsis* augmin complex uncovers its critical function in the assembly of the acentrosomal spindle and phragmoplast microtubule arrays. *Plant Cell* 24:1494–509
- Hsia KC, Wilson-Kubalek EM, Dottore A, Hao Q, Tsai KL, et al. 2014. Reconstitution of the augmin complex provides insights into its architecture and function. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 16:852–63
- Hurtado L, Caballero C, Gavilan MP, Cardenas J, Bornens M, Rios RM. 2011. Disconnecting the Golgi ribbon from the centrosome prevents directional cell migration and ciliogenesis. *7. Cell Biol.* 193:917–33
- Hutchins JR, Toyoda Y, Hegemann B, Poser I, Heriche JK, et al. 2010. Systematic analysis of human protein complexes identifies chromosome segregation proteins. *Science* 328:593–99
- Ibi M, Zou P, Inoko A, Shiromizu T, Matsuyama M, et al. 2011. Trichoplein controls microtubule anchoring at the centrosome by binding to Odf2 and ninein. J. Cell Sci. 124:857–64
- Inoue D, Stemmer M, Thumberger T, Ruppert T, Barenz F, et al. 2017. Expression of the novel maternal centrosome assembly factor Wdr8 is required for vertebrate embryonic mitoses. *Nat. Commun.* 8:14090
- Janson ME, Loughlin R, Loiodice I, Fu C, Brunner D, et al. 2007. Crosslinkers and motors organize dynamic microtubules to form stable bipolar arrays in fission yeast. *Cell* 128:357–68
- Jiang K, Hua S, Mohan R, Grigoriev I, Yau KW, et al. 2014. Microtubule minus-end stabilization by polymerization-driven CAMSAP deposition. Dev. Cell 28:295–309
- Khanal I, Elbediwy A, del Carmen Diaz de la Loza M, Fletcher GC, Thompson BJ. 2016. Shot and Patronin polarise microtubules to direct membrane traffic and biogenesis of microvilli in epithelia. *J. Cell Sci.* 129:2651–59
- Khodjakov A, Cole RW, Oakley BR, Rieder CL. 2000. Centrosome-independent mitotic spindle formation in vertebrates. Curr. Biol. 10:59–67

- Kilmartin JV. 2014. Lessons from yeast: the spindle pole body and the centrosome. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 369:20130456
- Kim DI, Birendra KC, Roux KJ. 2015. Making the LINC: SUN and KASH protein interactions. Biol. Chem. 396:295–310
- Kim S, Rhee K. 2014. Importance of the CEP215-pericentrin interaction for centrosome maturation during mitosis. PLOS ONE 9:e87016
- Kirkham M, Muller-Reichert T, Oegema K, Grill S, Hyman AA. 2003. SAS-4 is a C. elegans centriolar protein that controls centrosome size. Cell 112:575–87
- Kollman JM, Merdes A, Mourey L, Agard DA. 2011. Microtubule nucleation by gamma-tubulin complexes. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 12:709–21
- Lambrus BG, Daggubati V, Uetake Y, Scott PM, Clutario KM, et al. 2016. A USP28-53BP1-p53-p21 signaling axis arrests growth after centrosome loss or prolonged mitosis. J. Cell Biol. 214:143–53
- Laos T, Cabral G, Dammermann A. 2015. Isotropic incorporation of SPD-5 underlies centrosome assembly in C. elegans. Curr. Biol. 25:R648–49
- Lawo S, Bashkurov M, Mullin M, Ferreria MG, Kittler R, et al. 2009. HAUS, the 8-subunit human Augmin complex, regulates centrosome and spindle integrity. *Curr. Biol.* 19:816–26
- Lawo S, Hasegan M, Gupta GD, Pelletier L. 2012. Subdiffraction imaging of centrosomes reveals higher-order organizational features of pericentriolar material. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 14:1148–58
- Lechler T, Fuchs E. 2007. Desmoplakin: an unexpected regulator of microtubule organization in the epidermis. *J. Cell Biol.* 176:147–54
- Lee C, Scherr HM, Wallingford JB. 2007. Shroom family proteins regulate gamma-tubulin distribution and microtubule architecture during epithelial cell shape change. *Development* 134:1431–41
- Lee K, Rhee K. 2011. PLK1 phosphorylation of pericentrin initiates centrosome maturation at the onset of mitosis. J. Cell Biol. 195:1093–101
- Lin TC, Neuner A, Flemming D, Liu P, Chinen T, et al. 2016. MOZART1 and gamma-tubulin complex receptors are both required to turn gamma-TuSC into an active microtubule nucleation template. *J. Cell Biol.* 215:823–40
- Lin TC, Neuner A, Schiebel E. 2014a. Targeting of gamma-tubulin complexes to microtubule organizing centers: conservation and divergence. *Trends Cell Biol.* 25:296–307
- Lin TC, Neuner A, Schlosser YT, Scharf AN, Weber L, Schiebel E. 2014b. Cell-cycle dependent phosphorylation of yeast pericentrin regulates gamma-TuSC-mediated microtubule nucleation. *eLife* 3:e02208
- Liu P, Choi YK, Qi RZ. 2014. NME7 is a functional component of the gamma-tubulin ring complex. Mol. Biol. Cell 25:2017–25
- Liu T, Tian J, Wang G, Yu Y, Wang C, et al. 2014. Augmin triggers microtubule-dependent microtubule nucleation in interphase plant cells. *Curr. Biol.* 24:2708–13
- Loncarek J, Hergert P, Magidson V, Khodjakov A. 2008. Control of daughter centriole formation by the pericentriolar material. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 10:322–28
- Luders J, Patel UK, Stearns T. 2006. GCP-WD is a gamma-tubulin targeting factor required for centrosomal and chromatin-mediated microtubule nucleation. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 8:137–47
- Luxton GW, Gundersen GG. 2011. Orientation and function of the nuclear-centrosomal axis during cell migration. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 23:579–88
- Lynch EM, Groocock LM, Borek WE, Sawin KE. 2014. Activation of the gamma-tubulin complex by the Mto1/2 complex. Curr. Biol. 24:896–903
- Maia AR, Zhu X, Miller P, Gu G, Maiato H, Kaverina I. 2013. Modulation of Golgi-associated microtubule nucleation throughout the cell cycle. *Cytoskeleton* 70:32–43
- Maiato H, Logarinho E. 2014. Mitotic spindle multipolarity without centrosome amplification. Nat. Cell Biol. 16:386–94
- Masoud K, Herzog E, Chaboute ME, Schmit AC. 2013. Microtubule nucleation and establishment of the mitotic spindle in vascular plant cells. *Plant J*. 75:245–57
- Masuda H, Toda T. 2016. Synergistic role of fission yeast Alp16GCP6 and Mzt1MOZART1 in gamma-tubulin complex recruitment to mitotic spindle pole bodies and spindle assembly. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 27:1753–63

- Meinke P, Mattioli E, Haque F, Antoku S, Columbaro M, et al. 2014. Muscular dystrophy–associated SUN1 and SUN2 variants disrupt nuclear-cytoskeletal connections and myonuclear organization. *PLOS Genet*. 10:e1004605
- Meitinger F, Anzola JV, Kaulich M, Richardson A, Stender JD, et al. 2016. 53BP1 and USP28 mediate p53 activation and G1 arrest after centrosome loss or extended mitotic duration. *J. Cell Biol.* 214:155–66
- Meng W, Mushika Y, Ichii T, Takeichi M. 2008. Anchorage of microtubule minus ends to adherens junctions regulates epithelial cell-cell contacts. Cell 135:948–59
- Mennella V, Agard DA, Huang B, Pelletier L. 2014. Amorphous no more: subdiffraction view of the pericentriolar material architecture. *Trends Cell Biol.* 24:188–97
- Mennella V, Keszthelyi B, McDonald KL, Chhun B, Kan F, et al. 2012. Subdiffraction-resolution fluorescence microscopy reveals a domain of the centrosome critical for pericentriolar material organization. Nat. Cell Biol. 14:1159–68
- Meraldi P. 2016. Centrosomes in spindle organization and chromosome segregation: a mechanistic view. Chromosome Res. 24:19-34
- Meunier S, Shvedunova M, Van Nguyen N, Avila L, Vernos I, Akhtar A. 2015. An epigenetic regulator emerges as microtubule minus-end binding and stabilizing factor in mitosis. *Nat. Commun.* 6:7889
- Meyer I, Peter T, Batsios P, Kuhnert O, Kruger-Genge A, et al. 2017. CP39, CP75 and CP91 are major structural components of the *Dictyostelium* centrosome's core structure. *Eur 7. Cell Biol.* 96:119–30
- Miller PM, Folkmann AW, Maia AR, Efimova N, Efimov A, Kaverina I. 2009. Golgi-derived CLASPdependent microtubules control Golgi organization and polarized trafficking in motile cells. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 11:1069–80
- Milunovic-Jevtic A, Mooney P, Sulerud T, Bisht J, Gatlin JC. 2016. Centrosomal clustering contributes to chromosomal instability and cancer. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 40:113–18
- Mishra RK, Chakraborty P, Arnaoutov A, Fontoura BM, Dasso M. 2010. The Nup107–160 complex and gamma-TuRC regulate microtubule polymerization at kinetochores. Nat. Cell Biol. 12:164–69
- Mogensen MM, Malik A, Piel M, Bouckson-Castaing V, Bornens M. 2000. Microtubule minus-end anchorage at centrosomal and non-centrosomal sites: the role of ninein. J. Cell Sci. 113(Pt 17):3013–23
- Morlon-Guyot J, Francia ME, Dubremetz JF, Daher W. 2017. Towards a molecular architecture of the centrosome in *Toxoplasma gondii*. Cytoskeleton 74:55–71
- Mullee LI, Morrison CG. 2016. Centrosomes in the DNA damage response—the hub outside the centre. Chromosome Res. 24:35–51
- Muller H, Schmidt D, Steinbrink S, Mirgorodskaya E, Lehmann V, et al. 2010. Proteomic and functional analysis of the mitotic *Drosophila* centrosome. *EMBO J*. 29:3344–57
- Muroyama A, Seldin L, Lechler T. 2016. Divergent regulation of functionally distinct gamma-tubulin complexes during differentiation. J. Cell Biol. 213:679–92
- Nashchekin D, Fernandes AR, St. Johnston D. 2016. Patronin/Shot cortical foci assemble the noncentrosomal microtubule array that specifies the *Drosophila* anterior-posterior axis. *Dev. Cell* 38:61–72
- Nguyen MM, McCracken CJ, Milner ES, Goetschius DJ, Weiner AT, et al. 2014. Gamma-tubulin controls neuronal microtubule polarity independently of Golgi outposts. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 25:2039–50
- Ning W, Yu Y, Xu H, Liu X, Wang D, et al. 2016. The CAMSAP3-ACF7 complex couples noncentrosomal microtubules with actin filaments to coordinate their dynamics. *Dev. Cell* 39:61–74
- Noordstra I, Liu Q, Nijenhuis W, Hua S, Jiang K, et al. 2016. Control of apico-basal epithelial polarity by the microtubule minus-end-binding protein CAMSAP3 and spectraplakin ACF7. *J. Cell Sci.* 129:4278–88
- Oddoux S, Zaal KJ, Tate V, Kenea A, Nandkeolyar SA, et al. 2013. Microtubules that form the stationary lattice of muscle fibers are dynamic and nucleated at Golgi elements. J. Cell Biol. 203:205–13
- Ori-McKenney KM, Jan LY, Jan YN. 2012. Golgi outposts shape dendrite morphology by functioning as sites of acentrosomal microtubule nucleation in neurons. *Neuron* 76:921–30
- Petry S, Groen AC, Ishihara K, Mitchison TJ, Vale RD. 2013. Branching microtubule nucleation in Xenopus egg extracts mediated by augmin and TPX2. Cell 152:768–77
- Petry S, Pugieux C, Nedelec FJ, Vale RD. 2011. Augmin promotes meiotic spindle formation and bipolarity in *Xenopus* egg extracts. *PNAS* 108:14473–78
- Petry S, Vale RD. 2015. Microtubule nucleation at the centrosome and beyond. Nat. Cell Biol. 17:1089-93

Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 2017.33:51-75. Downloaded from www.annualreviews.org Access provided by Utrecht University on 01/22/18. For personal use only.

- Pinyol R, Scrofani J, Vernos I. 2013. The role of NEDD1 phosphorylation by Aurora A in chromosomal microtubule nucleation and spindle function. *Curr. Biol.* 23:143–49
- Purohit A, Tynan SH, Vallee R, Doxsey SJ. 1999. Direct interaction of pericentrin with cytoplasmic dynein light intermediate chain contributes to mitotic spindle organization. *J. Cell Biol.* 147:481–92
- Reschen RF, Colombie N, Wheatley L, Dobbelaere J, St. Johnston D, et al. 2012. Dgp71WD is required for the assembly of the acentrosomal meiosis I spindle, and is not a general targeting factor for the gamma-TuRC. *Biol. Open* 1:422–29
- Richens JH, Barros TP, Lucas EP, Peel N, Pinto DM, et al. 2015. The Drosophila Pericentrin-like-protein (PLP) cooperates with Cnn to maintain the integrity of the outer PCM. Biol. Open 4:1052–61
- Rios RM. 2014. The centrosome-Golgi apparatus nexus. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 369:20130462
- Rivero S, Cardenas J, Bornens M, Rios RM. 2009. Microtubule nucleation at the *cis*-side of the Golgi apparatus requires AKAP450 and GM130. *EMBO J*. 28:1016–28
- Rodionov V, Nadezhdina E, Borisy G. 1999. Centrosomal control of microtubule dynamics. *PNAS* 96:115–20 Rogers GC, Rogers SL, Sharp DJ. 2005. Spindle microtubules in flux. *7. Cell Sci.* 118:1105–16
- Rogers GC, Rusan NM, Peifer M, Rogers SL. 2008. A multicomponent assembly pathway contributes to the formation of acentrosomal microtubule arrays in interphase *Drosophila* cells. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 19:3163–78
- Roostalu J, Cade NI, Surrey T. 2015. Complementary activities of TPX2 and chTOG constitute an efficient importin-regulated microtubule nucleation module. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 17:1422–34
- Roubin R, Acquaviva C, Chevrier V, Sedjai F, Zyss D, et al. 2013. Myomegalin is necessary for the formation of centrosomal and Golgi-derived microtubules. *Biol. Open* 2:238–50
- Samejima I, Miller VJ, Rincon SA, Sawin KE. 2010. Fission yeast Mto1 regulates diversity of cytoplasmic microtubule organizing centers. *Curr. Biol.* 20:1959–65
- Sanchez AD, Feldman JL. 2017. Microtubule-organizing centers: from the centrosome to non-centrosomal sites. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 44:93–101
- Sanchez-Huertas C, Freixo F, Viais R, Lacasa C, Soriano E, Luders J. 2016. Non-centrosomal nucleation mediated by augmin organizes microtubules in post-mitotic neurons and controls axonal microtubule polarity. *Nat. Commun.* 7:12187
- Sanchez-Huertas C, Luders J. 2015. The augmin connection in the geometry of microtubule networks. Curr. Biol. 25:R294–99
- Sanders AA, Kaverina I. 2015. Nucleation and dynamics of Golgi-derived microtubules. Front. Neurosci. 9:431
- Sato Y, Hayashi K, Amano Y, Takahashi M, Yonemura S, et al. 2014. MTCL1 crosslinks and stabilizes non-centrosomal microtubules on the Golgi membrane. *Nat. Commun.* 5:5266
- Sawin KE, Lourenco PC, Snaith HA. 2004. Microtubule nucleation at non-spindle pole body microtubuleorganizing centers requires fission yeast centrosomin-related protein mod20p. Curr. Biol. 14:763–75
- Scrofani J, Sardon T, Meunier S, Vernos I. 2015. Microtubule nucleation in mitosis by a RanGTP-dependent protein complex. Curr. Biol. 25:131–40
- Sir JH, Putz M, Daly O, Morrison CG, Dunning M, et al. 2013. Loss of centrioles causes chromosomal instability in vertebrate somatic cells. J. Cell Biol. 203:747–56
- Stinchcombe JC, Majorovits E, Bossi G, Fuller S, Griffiths GM. 2006. Centrosome polarization delivers secretory granules to the immunological synapse. *Nature* 443:462–65
- Sugioka K, Hamill DR, Lowry JB, McNeely ME, Enrick M, et al. 2017. Centriolar SAS-7 acts upstream of SPD-2 to regulate centriole assembly and pericentriolar material formation. *eLife* 6:e20353
- Takahashi M, Yamagiwa A, Nishimura T, Mukai H, Ono Y. 2002. Centrosomal proteins CG-NAP and kendrin provide microtubule nucleation sites by anchoring gamma-tubulin ring complex. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 13:3235–45
- Tassin AM, Maro B, Bornens M. 1985. Fate of microtubule-organizing centers during myogenesis in vitro. J. Cell Biol. 100:35–46
- Teixido-Travesa N, Villen J, Lacasa C, Bertran MT, Archinti M, et al. 2010. The gammaTuRC revisited: A comparative analysis of interphase and mitotic human gammaTuRC redefines the set of core components and identifies the novel subunit GCP8. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 21:3963–72
- Toya M, Kobayashi S, Kawasaki M, Shioi G, Kaneko M, et al. 2016. CAMSAP3 orients the apical-to-basal polarity of microtubule arrays in epithelial cells. PNAS 113:332–37

- Uehara R, Nozawa RS, Tomioka A, Petry S, Vale RD, et al. 2009. The augmin complex plays a critical role in spindle microtubule generation for mitotic progression and cytokinesis in human cells. *PNAS* 106:6998–7003
- Vertii A, Ivshina M, Zimmerman W, Hehnly H, Kant S, Doxsey S. 2016. The centrosome undergoes Plk1independent interphase maturation during inflammation and mediates cytokine release. *Dev. Cell* 37:377– 86
- Vinogradova T, Miller PM, Kaverina I. 2009. Microtubule network asymmetry in motile cells: role of Golgiderived array. Cell Cycle 8:2168–74
- Vinogradova T, Paul R, Grimaldi AD, Loncarek J, Miller PM, et al. 2012. Concerted effort of centrosomal and Golgi-derived microtubules is required for proper Golgi complex assembly but not for maintenance. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 23:820–33
- Walde S, King MC. 2014. The KASH protein Kms2 coordinates mitotic remodeling of the spindle pole body. J. Cell Sci. 127:3625–40
- Wang S, Wu D, Quintin S, Green RA, Cheerambathur DK, et al. 2015. NOCA-1 functions with gammatubulin and in parallel to Patronin to assemble non-centrosomal microtubule arrays in *C. elegans. eLife* 4:e08649
- Wang Z, Wu T, Shi L, Zhang L, Zheng W, et al. 2010. Conserved motif of CDK5RAP2 mediates its localization to centrosomes and the Golgi complex. J. Biol. Chem. 285:22658–65
- Wang Z, Zhang C, Qi RZ. 2014. A newly identified myomegalin isoform functions in Golgi microtubule organization and ER-Golgi transport. J. Cell Sci. 127:4904–17
- Wieczorek M, Bechstedt S, Chaaban S, Brouhard GJ. 2015. Microtubule-associated proteins control the kinetics of microtubule nucleation. Nat. Cell Biol. 17:907–16
- Wong YL, Anzola JV, Davis RL, Yoon M, Motamedi A, et al. 2015. Reversible centriole depletion with an inhibitor of Polo-like kinase 4. Science 348:1155–60
- Woodruff JB, Wueseke O, Hyman AA. 2014. Pericentriolar material structure and dynamics. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 369:20130459
- Woodruff JB, Wueseke O, Viscardi V, Mahamid J, Ochoa SD, et al. 2015. Centrosomes. Regulated assembly of a supramolecular centrosome scaffold in vitro. Science 348:808–12
- Wu HY, Nazockdast E, Shelley MJ, Needleman DJ. 2017. Forces positioning the mitotic spindle: theories, and now experiments. *BioEssays* 39:1600212. https://doi.org/10.1002/bies.201600212
- Wu J, de Heus C, Liu Q, Bouchet BP, Noordstra I, et al. 2016. Molecular pathway of microtubule organization at the Golgi apparatus. Dev. Cell 39:44–60
- Wueseke O, Zwicker D, Schwager A, Wong YL, Oegema K, et al. 2016. Polo-like kinase phosphorylation determines *Caenorhabditis elegans* centrosome size and density by biasing SPD-5 toward an assemblycompetent conformation. *Biol. Open* 5:1431–40
- Yalgin C, Ebrahimi S, Delandre C, Yoong LF, Akimoto S, et al. 2015. Centrosomin represses dendrite branching by orienting microtubule nucleation. *Nat. Neurosci.* 18:1437–45
- Yamada M, Goshima G. 2017. Mitotic spindle assembly in land plants: molecules and mechanisms. *Biology* 6:E6
- Yan X, Habedanck R, Nigg EA. 2006. A complex of two centrosomal proteins, CAP350 and FOP, cooperates with EB1 in microtubule anchoring. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 17:634–44
- Yang R, Feldman JL. 2015. SPD-2/CEP192 and CDK are limiting for microtubule-organizing center function at the centrosome. Curr. Biol. 25:1924–31
- Yau KW, van Beuningen SF, Cunha-Ferreira I, Cloin BM, van Battum EY, et al. 2014. Microtubule minus-end binding protein CAMSAP2 controls axon specification and dendrite development. *Neuron* 82:1058–73
- Yigit G, Brown KE, Kayserili H, Pohl E, Caliebe A, et al. 2015. Mutations in CDK5RAP2 cause Seckel syndrome. Mol. Genet. Genom. Med. 3:467–80
- Yokoyama H, Koch B, Walczak R, Ciray-Duygu F, Gonzalez-Sanchez JC, et al. 2014. The nucleoporin MEL-28 promotes RanGTP-dependent gamma-tubulin recruitment and microtubule nucleation in mitotic spindle formation. *Nat. Commun.* 5:3270
- Yukawa M, Ikebe C, Toda T. 2015. The Msd1-Wdr8-Pkl1 complex anchors microtubule minus ends to fission yeast spindle pole bodies. J. Cell Biol. 209:549–62

- Zeng CJ, Lee YR, Liu B. 2009. The WD40 repeat protein NEDD1 functions in microtubule organization during cell division in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Plant Cell* 21:1129–40
- Zhang X, Chen MH, Wu X, Kodani A, Fan J, et al. 2016. Cell-type-specific alternative splicing governs cell fate in the developing cerebral cortex. *Cell* 166:1147–62
- Zheng J, Furness D, Duan C, Miller KK, Edge RM, et al. 2013. Marshalin, a microtubule minus-end binding protein, regulates cytoskeletal structure in the organ of Corti. *Biol. Open* 2:1192–202
- Zhu F, Lawo S, Bird A, Pinchev D, Ralph A, et al. 2008. The mammalian SPD-2 ortholog Cep192 regulates centrosome biogenesis. *Curr. Biol.* 18:136–41
- Zhu X, Hu R, Brissova M, Stein RW, Powers AC, et al. 2015. Microtubules negatively regulate insulin secretion in pancreatic beta cells. *Dev. Cell* 34:656–68
- Zhu X, Kaverina I. 2013. Golgi as an MTOC: making microtubules for its own good. *Histochem. Cell Biol.* 140:361–67
- Zwicker D, Decker M, Jaensch S, Hyman AA, Julicher F. 2014. Centrosomes are autocatalytic droplets of pericentriolar material organized by centrioles. PNAS 111:E2636–45

ANNUAL REVIEWS Connect With Our Experts



ONLINE NOW!

New From Annual Reviews:

Annual Review of Cancer Biology cancerbio.annualreviews.org · Volume 1 · March 2017

Co-Editors: Tyler Jacks, Massachusetts Institute of Technology

Charles L. Sawyers, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center

The Annual Review of Cancer Biology reviews a range of subjects representing important and emerging areas in the field of cancer research. The Annual Review of Cancer Biology includes three broad themes: Cancer Cell Biology, Tumorigenesis and Cancer Progression, and Translational Cancer Science.

TABLE OF CONTENTS FOR VOLUME 1:

- How Tumor Virology Evolved into Cancer Biology and Transformed Oncology, Harold Varmus and and the Varmus and the Varmus
- The Role of Autophagy in Cancer, Naiara Santana-Codina, Joseph D. Mancias, Alec C. Kimmelman
- Cell Cycle-Targeted Cancer Therapies, Charles J. Sherr, Jiri Bartek
- Ubiquitin in Cell-Cycle Regulation and Dysregulation in Cancer, Natalie A. Borg, Vishva M. Dixit
- The Two Faces of Reactive Oxygen Species in Cancer, Colleen R. Reczek, Navdeep S. Chandel
- Analyzing Tumor Metabolism In Vivo, Brandon Faubert, Ralph J. DeBerardinis
- Stress-Induced Mutagenesis: Implications in Cancer and Drug Resistance, Devon M. Fitzgerald, P.J. Hastings, Susan M. Rosenberg
- Synthetic Lethality in Cancer Therapeutics, Roderick L. Beijersbergen, Lodewyk F.A. Wessels, René Bernards
- Noncoding RNAs in Cancer Development, Chao-Po Lin, Lin He
- *p53: Multiple Facets of a Rubik's Cube*, Yun Zhang, Guillermina Lozano
- Resisting Resistance, Ivana Bozic, Martin A. Nowak
- Deciphering Genetic Intratumor Heterogeneity and Its Impact on Cancer Evolution, Rachel Rosenthal, Nicholas McGranahan, Javier Herrero, Charles Swanton

- Immune-Suppressing Cellular Elements of the Tumor Microenvironment, Douglas T. Fearon
- Overcoming On-Target Resistance to Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitors in Lung Cancer, Ibiayi Dagogo-Jack, Jeffrey A. Engelman, Alice T. Shaw
- Apoptosis and Cancer, Anthony Letai
- Chemical Carcinogenesis Models of Cancer: Back to the Future, Melissa Q. McCreery, Allan Balmain
- Extracellular Matrix Remodeling and Stiffening Modulate Tumor Phenotype and Treatment Response, Jennifer L. Leight, Allison P. Drain, Valerie M. Weaver
- Aneuploidy in Cancer: Seq-ing Answers to Old Questions, Kristin A. Knouse, Teresa Davoli, Stephen J. Elledge, Angelika Amon
- The Role of Chromatin-Associated Proteins in Cancer, Kristian Helin, Saverio Minucci
- Targeted Differentiation Therapy with Mutant IDH Inhibitors: Early Experiences and Parallels with Other Differentiation Agents, Eytan Stein, Katharine Yen
- Determinants of Organotropic Metastasis, Heath A. Smith, Yibin Kang
- Multiple Roles for the MLL/COMPASS Family in the Epigenetic Regulation of Gene Expression and in Cancer, Joshua J. Meeks, Ali Shilatifard
- Chimeric Antigen Receptors: A Paradigm Shift in Immunotherapy, Michel Sadelain

ANNUAL REVIEWS | CONNECT WITH OUR EXPERTS

650.493.4400/800.523.8635 (us/can) www.annualreviews.org | service@annualreviews.org

lreviews.org only.



Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology Volume 33, 2017

Contents

Assessing the Contributions of Motor Enzymes and Microtubule Dynamics to Mitotic Chromosome Motions <i>J. Richard McIntosh</i>
Centriole Biogenesis: From Identifying the Characters to Understanding the Plot <i>Niccolò Banterle and Pierre Gönczy</i>
Microtubule-Organizing Centers Jingchao Wu and Anna Akhmanova
Cell Polarity in Yeast <i>Jian-geng Chiou, Mohan K. Balasubramanian, and Daniel J. Lew</i>
Excitable Signal Transduction Networks in Directed Cell Migration Peter N. Devreotes, Sayak Bhattacharya, Marc Edwards, Pablo A. Iglesias, Thomas Lampert, and Yuchuan Miao
Cell Removal: Efferocytosis <i>Peter M. Henson</i>
Sending and Receiving Hedgehog Signals Kostadin Petrov, Bradley M. Wierbowski, and Adrian Salic
Cell Sheet Morphogenesis: Dorsal Closure in Drosophila melanogaster as a Model System Daniel P. Kiehart, Janice M. Crawford, Andreas Aristotelous, Stephanos Venakides, and Glenn S. Edwards
Lessons from Interspecies Mammalian Chimeras Fabian Suchy and Hiromitsu Nakauchi
Temporal Patterning in the <i>Drosophila</i> CNS Chris Q. Doe

Unconventional Roles of Opsins Nicole Y. Leung and Craig Montell
The Three-Dimensional Organization of Mammalian Genomes Miao Yu and Bing Ren
The Inherent Asymmetry of DNA ReplicationJonathan Snedeker, Matthew Wooten, and Xin Chen291
Rethinking m ⁶ A Readers, Writers, and Erasers Kate D. Meyer and Samie R. Jaffrey 319
Ribosomal Stalling During Translation: Providing Substrates for Ribosome-Associated Protein Quality Control <i>Claudio A.P. Joazeiro</i>
Structural and Mechanistic Insights into Protein Translocation Tom A. Rapoport, Long Li, and Eunyong Park
In Search of Lost Small Peptides Serge Plaza, Gerben Menschaert, and François Payre
Mechanisms of Tail-Anchored Membrane Protein Targeting and Insertion Un Seng Chio, Hyunju Cho, and Shu-ou Shan
Coping with Protein Quality Control Failure Esther Pilla, Kim Schneider, and Anne Bertolotti
Proteostatic Tactics in the Strategy of Sterol Regulation Margaret A. Wangeline, Nidhi Vashistha, and Randolph Y. Hampton
Lipid Droplet Biogenesis Tobias C. Walther, Jeeyun Chung, and Robert V. Farese Jr
Unconventional or Preset αβ T Cells: Evolutionarily Conserved Tissue-Resident T Cells Recognizing Nonpeptidic Ligands <i>Francois Legoux, Marion Salou, and Olivier Lantz</i>
How Single-Cell Genomics Is Changing Evolutionary and Developmental Biology John C. Marioni and Detlev Arendt
The <i>FLC</i> Locus: A Platform for Discoveries in Epigenetics and Adaptation <i>Charles Whittaker and Caroline Dean</i>
Sex and Gender Differences in the Outcomes of Vaccination over the Life Course <i>Katie L. Flanagan, Ashley L. Fink, Magdalena Plebanski,</i> <i>and Sabra L. Klein</i>